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The journey begins when a couple steps through our doors, with hope of bearing 
a child they can call their own. Nine months later, when they emerge as beaming 
parents... gazing upon a baby’s smile, hearing the delightful sound of a child’s 
laughter, their joy is made complete.

At TMC Life Sciences, we understand the couples’ desire to start a family, and also 
their dream of building a future. And that is why we are committed to doing our utmost 
best to bring their hopes into reality.

In the same way, TMC Life Sciences was born out of a desire to serve the people in 
the nation and the region; and we will endeavour to continue growing the company to 
create shareholders’ value.

It all begins with a Spark of Hope… and A Lifetime of Joy ensues.

contents
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corporate profile

To consistently provide the best medical expertise with appropriate 
state-of-the-art technology to maximise each individual couple’s 
chances of realising their dream of having their own children

TMC Life Sciences Berhad is the 
investment holding company of 
renowned fertility specialist Damasara 
Women’s Specialist Centre Sdn Bhd and 
Damansara Fertility Centre Sdn Bhd.

Established in 1994, the Group provides 
fertility treatment and general Obstetrics 
and Gynaecology (“O&G”) services. The 
Group is one of the very few centres in 
the region to provide a comprehensive 
range of fertility services today.

The Group is a market leader in Assisted 
Reproductive Technologies (“ART”), 
accounting for about one-third of all 
test-tube babies produced in Malaysia. 
Its pregnancy success rates, are 
comparable to top In-Vitro Fertilisation 
(“IVF”) centres in United Kingdom and 
United States of America. 

VISION

M
IS

S
IO

N

• To ensure highly trained experts including doctors, 
embryologists and nurses in the areas of fertility

• To provide the optimum set-up, facilities and state-of-
the-art technology to enable the achievement of our 
goals 

• To promote public awareness on issues related to 
fertility including educating them on the availability and 
appropriateness of current treatment options

• To make accessible to the public world-class state-
of-the-art technologies and expertise in the fields of 
fertility and women’s health

• To promote and champion the basic reproductive 
rights of all couples and individuals to decide freely 
and responsibly the number, spacing and timing of 
their children
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corporate profile corporate structure

TMC LIFE SCIENCES BERHAD
Investment Holding Company

Damansara Women’s
Specialist Centre Sdn Bhd

100%

Fertility Treatment Services 

IVF Technologies Sdn Bhd
100%

Research & Development in 
Life Sciences

Damansara Fertility Centre
Sdn Bhd
100%

Fertility Treatment Services

The Group’s centres are located in:

Damansara Utama, Petaling Jaya

Kepong, Kuala Lumpur Johor Bahru, JohorSibu, Sarawak
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financial highlights

Summarised Group Income Statement (Proforma)
Year Ended 31 December (RM’000) 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
Tumover 5,296 6,945 8,967 12,035 16,574 21,481
EBITDA 253 1,318 2,611 4,564 8,362 11,576
Profit Before Tax 253 1,318 2,611 4,378 7,853 11,023
Net Profit 172 938 1,862 3,138 5,652 7,802

Summarised Group Balance Sheet
As At 31 December (RM’000) 2005
Property, Plant and Equipment 23,489
Project Development Costs 2,990

Current Assets 20,601
Current Liabilities 2,819
Net Current Assets 17,782

44,261
 

Financed By:
Share Capital 16,833
Share Premium 10,325
Retained Profits 4,670
Reserve on Consolidation 9,183
Shareholders’ Equity 41,010

Deferred Taxation 3,250
44,261

 

Summarised Group Cash Flow Statement 
Year Ended 31 December (RM’000) 2005
Operating Profit Before Working Capital Changes 7,110
Net Cash Generated:  
Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities 5,873
Net Cash Flows From Investing Activities (16,173)
Net Cash Flows From Financing Activities 27,520

17,220
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3-yrs 
CAGR 
33.8%

3-yrs 
CAGR 
61.6%

3-yrs 
CAGR 
61.2%



2005 Revenue by Patient Origin
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Share Price Information

Share Price
Record High Price (27 February 2006) RM1.02
Closing Price (31 December 2005) RM0.90
Closing Price (28 April 2006) RM0.91
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Market Valuation (28 April 2006)
Market Capitalisation (RM’mil) 153.18
Historical PE Multiple 19.6
Price/Book Ratio 6.44
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financial highlights (cont’d)

Financial Analysis 2005
Turnover Growth 29.6%
Operating Profit Growth 38.1%
Profit Before Tax Growth 40.4%
Net Profit Growth 38.0%
Operating Profit Margin 53.8%
Pre-tax Profit Margin 51.3%
Net Profit Margin 36.3%

Total Assets RM 47,080
Total Borrowings/Equity Ratio Net Cash
Cash and Cash Equivalents RM 17,220
ROE (Average Equity) 26.9%
ROA (Average Total Assets) 20.3%
NTA Per Share (Sen) 14.13
Net Earnings Per Share (Sen) 4.63
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a word from the chairman

FY2005 Financial Performance

TMC Life Sciences recorded an impressive 29.6% growth in 
revenue to RM21.5 million in FY2005 compared to proforma 
group revenue of RM16.6 million in FY2004. Proforma 
group net profit, before adjustment for pre-acquisition profit, 
likewise increased to RM7.8 million in the year under review 
from RM5.7 million in the preceding year.

Consequently, the Group’s net margins were maintained 
at high levels; reaching 36.3% in FY2005 compared to 
34.1% the year before. This is reflective of the Group’s 
niche business that focuses on providing advanced Assisted 
Reproductive Techniques (“ART”) to infertile couples.

Another notable aspect of the Group’s financial performance 
is that revenue contribution from foreign patients more 
than doubled to 10.6% in FY2005, compared with 5.0% 
in FY2004. In absolute Malaysian Ringgit terms, foreign 
patients brought in a revenue stream of RM2.3 million in 
FY2005, compared with approximately RM0.83 million in 
the preceding year.

Viewed from a larger perspective, TMC Life Sciences 
continued to chart an impeccable financial track record 
over the years, with group revenue and net profit growing 

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of TMC Life Sciences 
Berhad, I am pleased to share with you our first Annual Report 
and the audited accounts of the Group and Company for the 
year ended 31 December 2005 (“FY2005”).

FY2005 saw many firsts being recorded in the Group’s corporate history. 
The most significant was, undoubtedly, our successful listing onto the 
MESDAQ Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on 6 October 
2005 – thus according us the honour and privilege of being the 
first human life sciences company to become a listed entity in 
Malaysia, and probably in the South East Asian region.

The year under review also marked our ability to replicate 
successful branches, as evidenced by the high pregnancy 
rates and profitability achieved within the first full year of 
operations at our first full-fledged branch outside the Klang 
Valley located in Johor Bahru, Johor. Not only are we encouraged 
by this maiden achievement, but also believe that it is a significant step 
to effectively establishing our presence throughout the country while 
continuing to provide high quality fertility treatment services.

at healthy compounded annual rates of 33.8% and 61.2% 
respectively from 2002 to 2005. Return on average 
shareholders’ equity was a creditable 26.9% in the year 
under review, while return on average assets was 20.3%. 
Both these ratios indicate efficient utilisation of the 
Group’s financial and capital resources.

In view of the Group’s strong financial performance and as 
a gesture of appreciation to our shareholders, the Board 
is pleased to declare a maiden dividend of 1 sen per 
share less tax 28% for FY2005, subject to the approval of 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

The Group’s commendable performance can be attributed 
mainly to the Group’s two-pronged strategy of growing 
the business: optimizing our present operations, and 
broadening our customer base beyond our local shores. 

Locally, we have continued our efforts in educating and 
increasing the awareness of fertility treatment options 
amongst the general public through public forums and 
healthcare exhibitions. 
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At the same time, the Group intensified its efforts in promoting the Group’s range of comprehensive fertility services 
and high success rates, riding on the Malaysian Government’s initiatives to promote health tourism industry in various 
countries across the region. These marketing activities had substantially led to the Group’s broadened foreign patient base 
to include patients from more than 31 countries to date.

Moving on to the Group’s balance sheet, shareholders’ funds stood at RM41.0 million as at 31 December 2005, with cash 
and cash equivalents at a healthy level of RM17.2 million and zero gearing. The growth-ready balance sheet will certainly 
poise the Group to tap the opportunities in the local and regional arenas.

The Fertility Industry

The Group believes that there is huge untapped demand for fertility treatment services in the region.

According to the World Health Organization (“WHO”), infertility is defined as the inability to conceive after 12 months 
of frequent and unprotected sexual relations. While the causes of infertility are varied, one of the significant factors 
responsible for the high incidence of infertility is the increasing trend amongst the public to attach greater importance to 
career development, thus delaying marriage, and subsequently, childbearing. The WHO Report 2002 states that infertility 
affects 80 million people worldwide, and also estimates that 1 in 10 couples experiences infertility. Statistics on infertility 
in Malaysia, with estimated 300,000 infertile couples, indeed indicate high demand for fertility treatment.

Based on a speech delivered by the Minister of Health, Yang Berhormat Dato’ Dr. Chua Soi Lek in February 2006, there 
are approximately 3 public and 30 private fertility clinics nationwide as at end 2005. Of the Obstetrics & Gynaecology 
(O&G) practitioners, about 40 have had training in assisted conception procedures. This represents low ratio of fertility 
specialists to infertile couples in the country, thus signifying a large potential demand for fertility services within the 
country.

In comparison, Australia, whose population size is similar to Malaysia’s, performs a total of 30,000 In-Vitro Fertilisation 
(“IVF”) cycles yearly; a large contrast to approximately 1,800 IVF cycles performed in Malaysia in 2005.

Emphasis on Focused R&D

Since its inception in 1994, the Group has always placed a high premium on R&D initiatives, understanding its critical role 
in continuously improving each process in order to enhance the Group’s pregnancy success rates and thus maintaining its 
competitive edge. To this end, the Group annually invests about 10% of group revenue for the sole purpose of undertaking 
R&D initiatives specifically in fertility technologies.

Some of these R&D findings and methodologies have even been accepted for publication in Malaysian and international 
journals, as well as presented in global ART forums and conferences. 

TMC Life Sciences is proud to be recognised not just for being one of the very few centres in the region to offer a 
comprehensive range of fertility treatment services, but also for having pregnancy success rates that are comparable to 
world-class IVF centres. In Malaysia, we have introduced several ground-breaking assisted reproductive techniques such 
as frozen embryo transfer, blastocyst transfer, and blastocyst freezing over the years, and believe we are instrumental in 
at least a third of all test-tube babies produced in Malaysia.

Utilisation of IPO Proceeds

The Group’s Initial Public Offer (“IPO”) exercise which was completed in October 2005 raised approximately RM16.0 
million in proceeds. As at 14 April 2006, the amount utilised and balance is shown below:

IPO Proceeds 
(RM’000)

Amount Utilised 
(RM’000)

Balance
(RM’000)

R&D Projects 6,000 1,500 4,500
To part-finance the construction of Tropicana Medical Centre 6,000 926 5,074
Local and regional expansion 1,500 117 1,383
Working capital 498 498 -
Listing expenses 2,000 1,463 537*
Total 15,998 4,504 11,494

* Balance of unutilised proceeds allocated for listing expenses will be transferred to working capital.

As stated in our IPO prospectus dated 15 September 2005, these IPO proceeds are expected to be utilised within two 
years from the listing date.
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Onward to the Years Ahead

The Board is, on the whole, optimistic of the Group’s 
prospects going forward, in view of the exciting 
developments in the first quarter of 2006 which have 
certainly contributed to a bright outlook.

For one thing, the Group’s branch in Johor Bahru holds 
much potential for growth, after achieving profitability 
and high success rates comparable to the Group’s 
headquarters in Damansara Utama, Petaling Jaya. The 
Johor Bahru branch, which has ample capacity for further 
expansion, is anticipated to increase its contribution in 
line with increased reputation amongst the surrounding 
communities.

In addition, the Group made its first foray into East 
Malaysia through the establishment of an IVF clinic in Sibu 
Specialist Medical Centre (“SSMC”), bringing the Group’s 
total number of centres to four in the country thus far. 
The agreement with SSMC was a natural progression of its 
previous arrangement, where TMC Life Sciences provided 
consultation services on fertility treatment in SSMC on a 
regular basis since July 2005. The Group believes that the 
Sibu branch is poised to capture a growing share of the 
fertility treatment market in Sarawak and Sabah, as well 
as in neighbouring countries such as Brunei. In the pipeline 
are plans to further expand the Group’s presence locally.

Casting our sights to the regional markets, the Group 
recognises the unique opportunities presented to the 
Group in the form of health tourism. As such, we are intent 
on continuously promoting our range of fertility services 
to more countries, particularly in the Asia Pacific region. 
The Group has and will continue to give its unwavering 
support to the health tourism trade missions organized 
by the Malaysian Government, as well as undertake 
marketing expeditions of its own. Furthermore, the Group 
is constantly exploring opportunities to forge strategic 
alliances with medical partners to set up IVF / fertility 
centres in the region where viable.

In anticipation of greater demand for fertility treatment 

services from the local and foreign markets, the Group 
has begun the construction of Tropicana Medical Centre, 
Malaysia’s first medical specialist centre dedicated 
to fertility, women and children. The groundbreaking 
ceremony for this project was held on 23 February 2006, 
and was officiated by Yang Berhormat Dato’ Dr. Chua 
Soi Lek, Minister of Health, Malaysia. Tropicana Medical 
Centre is planned for completion in 2007, and is expected 
to commence operations in 2008. 

Through it all, the Group will not neglect its commitment 
to excellence, and strive to attain even higher pregnancy 
success rates via continuous R&D, to bring hope into 
reality for the couples who walk through our doors. 

Corporate Governance

The Board believes in the maintenance of the highest 
standards of corporate governance practices within 
the Group as a fundamental part of discharging our 
responsibilities to protect and maximise shareholders’ 
value and enhance the business prosperity of the Group. 
The measures implemented to this effect are highlighted in 
the Corporate Governance Report.

A Word of Appreciation

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I wish to extend my 
appreciation to the team of dedicated employees in TMC 
Life Sciences, for not only sharing the Group’s vision, but 
also being determined in propelling the Group towards its 
present success. It is my sincere hope that this resolve 
would not dim in our hearts, as we forge ahead to chart a 
new phase of growth for the Group. 

I would also like to thank our stakeholders, including our 
valued shareholders and business associates, for their 
consistent support during this journey. Together, we look 
forward to a brighter year for TMC Life Sciences.

Professor Dato’ Dr. Khalid Abdul Kadir

Independent Non-Executive Chairman
22 May 2006
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Opening Our Doors to the Local Community

Local patients contributed RM19.2 million, or 89.4%, of FY2005 group revenue of RM21.5 
million; representing a 21.9% increase from RM15.8 million in the preceding year.

The growth in local revenue is largely attributed to the general public’s 
increased awareness of the various types and effectiveness of fertility 
treatment services available in the Group’s centres, along with increased 

affordability due to rising income levels. In the year under review, 
the Group remained on its proactive stance to educate the public 
on methods to treat infertility through regular public forums and 
participation in healthcare exhibitions.

Furthermore, the higher FY2005 revenue is inclusive of the 
increasingly significant contributions from the Group’s branch in 

Johor Bahru, which completed its first full year of operations 
in the year under review. A full-fledged centre similar to the 
Group’s headquarters in Damansara Utama, the Johor Bahru 
branch contributed approximately 12% to FY2005 group 
revenue.

Overall, TMC Life Sciences expanded its market share in the 
Malaysian fertility industry to more than 30% in 2005. 

Reaching Out to Foreign Patients

Foreign patients accounted for less than 1% of group revenue up to 2002. Cognizant of the potential to meet the huge 
demand for fertility services amongst infertile couples across the region, the Group began to actively promote its fertility 
services to various countries in the region, including to Indonesia, Singapore, Philippines, China and Japan. Since then, the 
contribution from our foreign patient base has grown steadily year on year, accounting for 2% and 5% of group revenue 
in 2003 and 2004 respectively.

FY2005 saw the Group’s foreign patient base spanning across more than 31 countries, and contributing RM2.3 million, 
or 10.6% of FY2005 group revenue.

Patients from the top five countries – Indonesia, Singapore, Japan, India and Australia – collectively brought in about 64% 
of total foreign revenue. Of these countries, Japan was one of the fastest-responding markets to our marketing efforts, 
and the Group has recorded notable pregnancy success rates among our Japanese patients thus far, and foreign patients 
in general.

We believe that this significant growth in our foreign patient base augurs well for the Group, as our track record has shown 
that foreign patients typically generate more revenue than local patients on an average per visit basis.

the management review



The Group’s expansion in foreign patient base is a direct result of our endeavours in spurring the inflow of foreign patients 
into the country – be it in collaboration with health tourism missions undertaken by the Malaysian Government, or through 
our own initiatives. These trade missions and healthcare exhibitions serve as platforms for the Group to develop strategic 
alliances with medical and/or commercial partners, such as travel agencies, to refer infertility treatment cases to the 
Group’s centres.

One such example is the signing of 22 Memorandums of Understanding (MOUs) with travel agencies and healthcare 
parties based in the People’s Republic of China, and 1 MOU based in USA in the year under review. This, we believe, is a 
high vote of confidence for TMC Life Sciences’ proven track record and high success rates on the regional front.

Dedicated to Excellence in Fertility Treatment 

The Group also recorded numerous milestones in the medical / fertility field in 2005. Among the notable achievements in 
the year include the birth of Malaysia’s first Day-5 Pre-Implantation Genetic Diagnosis (“PGD”) baby on Valentine’s Day. PGD 
is an advanced fertility treatment that involves the testing of early stage embryos for chromosomal abnormalities before 
it is placed into the womb, and is a procedure offered in very few IVF centres in the region.

The Group also marked a significant highlight when it produced its 1000th test tube baby – reinforcing our position as the 
leading fertility treatment services provider in Malaysia.

Not only that, the Group gained global recognition for excellence in R&D, as demonstrated by in our success rates and  
pioneer methodologies on embryo transfer being accepted for presentation and publication at the Conjoint Annual Meeting 
of the American Society of Reproductive Medicine and Canadian Fertility and Andrology Society in Montreal, Canada; 
as well as the Fertility Focus Annual Congress of the Ahmedabad Obstetrics & Gynaecological Society in Ahmedabad, 
India. The Group’s work is increasingly recognised regionally; for instance, we were invited to present our Ovarian Drilling 
methodology at Asia Pacific Initiative on Reproductive Endocrinology (ASPIRE)’s Inaugural Congress in March 2006.

Accomplishments such as these ultimately serve to assure our patients of our determination and commitment to achieve 
the highest possible pregnancy rates, and thus play a crucial role in bringing a spark of hope and a lifetime of joy to their 
lives.

Prospects

Going forward, TMC Life Sciences is set on its course to continue growing the company, in terms of both local and 
regional reach.

The outlook on the local market is positive, with the general public increasingly gaining awareness of TMC Life Sciences’ 
high pregnancy success rates and wide range of infertility treatment services through word-of-mouth, the internet, media 
publicity on the Group as a listed entity, as well as public education activities. To this end, the Group held a large-scale 
public forum on fertility treatment methods early this year, which attracted more than 400 participants. This, we believe, 
affirms the general public’s growing acceptance in treating infertility.

The Group will concentrate on growing the business at our local branches. The Johor Bahru branch, in particular, holds 
much promise to become a significant revenue driver for the Group, in view of its strengthening reputation for achieving 
high success rates, which have been accepted for presentation to the XVIII Federation International of Gynaecology & 
Obstetrics (FIGO) World Congress of Gynaecology & Obstetrics. Moreover, the Johor Bahru branch is strategically placed 
to attract local and foreign patients from Singapore and Indonesia.

An exciting development for the Group is the establishment of our fourth branch in Sibu, Sarawak, which thus enables us 
to tap into demand for fertility treatment in East Malaysia and the neighbouring countries. The Sibu branch, equipped with 
services to prepare couples for advanced fertility treatment, including In-Vitro Fertilisation (“IVF”) and laparoscopic surgery, 
has seen encouraging response from the local community, and even more so as it has achieved high pregnancy rates 
among the pioneer batch of patients there. We are optimistic that this new branch will contribute positively to the Group’s 
financial performance this year forward.
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the management review (cont’d)



Regionally, the Group will maintain its focus on attracting more foreign patients into the Group’s centres, in line with the 
Malaysian Government’s continuing efforts to promote Malaysia as the preferred destination for healthcare services.

We will continue to intensify our efforts in key countries such as Indonesia, whose patients contributed almost a third of 
the Group’s foreign revenue in FY2005, thus becoming the largest contributor by a foreign country.

That said, the Group will constantly be on the lookout for opportunities to create strategic alliances or establish more 
centres in the country and in the region where feasible to the Group’s strategic plan.

In preparation to meet the increased demand for fertility treatment services, the Group is currently recruiting doctors 
and training embryologists, in order to complement the present workforce of 5 resident doctors and 7 embryologists 
nationwide. 

Looking towards the future, the Group has put in place long term plans to meet the needs of our ever-widening local 
and foreign patient base in a more complete and adequate manner. To this end, we have undertaken the construction of 
Tropicana Medical Centre, the Group’s flagship advanced specialist medical centre. 

Tropicana Medical Centre, with a planned total built-up area of 220,000 sq ft, will continue to provide fertility treatment 
and downstream services such as ante-natal and delivery services, as well as post-natal services and baby-care, in order 
to truly provide and care for women throughout their pregnancies and early phase of parenthood.

We are mindful of the fact our patients are compelled by the top quality medical treatment they receive at competitive 
prices. In this respect, we will continue to pursue strategies to be a centre of excellence in all aspects, including 
maintaining solid pregnancy success rates comparable to top IVF centres around the world.

Just as parents take delight in watching their children grow, we at TMC Life Sciences believe that we too will find joy as 
the Group charts its course to scale greater heights in the years ahead.

Dr Colin Lee Soon Soo
Managing Director
22 May 2006
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the Group’s 2005 milestones

Produced Malaysia
& Singapore’s first

set of PGD twins

Successfully listed on the Mesdaq Market of
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on 6 October 2005

R&D findings accepted 
for presentation 

and publication at
international forums in

Montreal and India

Entered significant
markets – China, Japan,

 Philippines. To date,
the Group’s foreign

patient base spans across
more than 31 countries

The Group produced
its 1000th test tube baby

Johor Bahru branch
recorded its first full
year of operations

Johor Bahru branch
achieved pregnancy
success rates as high

as those of its
headquarters in

Damansara Utama

Signing of 22
Memorandums of

Understanding (MOUs) in
People’s Republic of China

Produced Malaysia’s 
first Day-5 (Blastocyst)

Pre-implantation
Genetic Diagnosis

(PGD) baby 

Achievements

Marketing Plan
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the board of directors

Professor Dato’ Dr Khalid
Bin Abdul Kadir
• Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Dr Colin Lee Soon Soo
• Managing Director

Amos Siew Boon Yeong
• Executive Director

Dr Wong Pak Seng
• Executive Director

Lee Soon Swee
• Non-Independent
 Non-Executive Director

Dato’ Dr Tan Kee Kwong
• Independent Non-Executive Director

Dr Yap Teck Long
• Independent Non-Executive Director

Dr Francis Lisa Muga
• Independent Non-Executive Director

Dr Surinder Singh
A/L Ranbir Singh
• Alternate Director to Dr Wong Pak Seng
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Professor Dato’ Dr. Khalid Bin Abdul Kadir
Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Professor Dato’ Dr. Khalid Bin Abdul Kadir, a Malaysian 
aged 58, was appointed to the Board as Independent Non-
Executive Chairman on 7 October 2004. He graduated 
with a double first-class honours in B.Med. Sc. and a first 
class honours in MBBS from Monash University, Australia 
in 1973 and 1975 respectively, PhD in 1982, FRACP 
(Australia) and FRCP (Edinburgh, Glasgow, London).

He returned to Malaysia in 1982 to join Universiti 
Kebangsaan Malaysia as a lecturer, and was promoted to 
Associate Professor in 1984 and Head of Department of 
Medicine in 1985. He then became Dean of the Medical 
Faculty and was promoted to Professor in 1990. In 
1997, he resigned as Dean to become Director of the 
new Hospital Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia (“HUKM”), 
a post he held until September 2000 when he resigned 
to concentrate on clinical medicine and research. He was 
awarded the title of Professor Emeritus of HUKM upon 
his retirement from Government service in early 2004. 
He is also currently a Professor of Medicine in Monash 
University.

He was elected member of the Malaysia Medical Council 
from 1986 until 2001, President of the Persatuan 
Diabetes Malaysia for 5 years until 1990 and the President 
of the Malaysia Endocrine Society from 1995 until 2001. 
He is presently Vice Master of The Academy of Medicine 
in Malaysia.

He was very active in research and has published more 
than 270 papers in internal and peer reviewed journals. He 
was awarded The National Science Award in 1997 and The 
Asia Pacific Nutrition Award in 1996.

Dr Colin Lee Soon Soo
Managing Director

Dr Colin Lee Soon Soo, a Malaysian aged 48, is the 
founder of the Company and was appointed to the Board 
as Managing Director on 3 June 2005. He graduated with 
MBBS (University of New South Wales, Australia) in 1982, 
MRCOG (England) in 1991 and MMED O&G (National 
University of Singapore) in 1991.

Dr Colin Lee is the founder of TMC Life Sciences, 
Damansara Women’s Specialist Centre and Damansara 
Fertility Centre, as well as founder and Director of IVF 
Technologies. He has been in the medical practice for 
24 years and is currently a Consultant Obstetrician and 
Gynaecologist, specializing in the fields of fertility and 
laparoscopic surgery.

Presently, he is a fellow of the International College 
of Surgeons, and President of Malaysian Society of 
Assisted Reproductive Technology (MSART), Treasurer and 
Board Member of Asia Pacific Initiative on Reproductive 
Endocrinology (ASPIRE), and Committee Member of 
Organon Asia Pacific Fertility Advisory Board.

the board of directors (cont’d)

Amos Siew Boon Yeong
Executive Director

Amos Siew Boon Yeong, a Malaysian aged 48, was 
appointed to the Board as Executive Director on 3 June 
2005. He is also a member of the Audit Committee of the 
Company.

He qualified as a Certified Public Accountant in 1984 and 
is a member of the Malaysian Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants, a Chartered Accountant with the Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants and an associate member of 
the Malaysian Institute of Taxation. He is also a Certified 
Financial Planner and a member of the Financial Planning 
Association of Malaysia.

He is an independent and non-executive Director of 
EcoFirst Consolidated Bhd (formerly known as Kumpulan 
Emas Bhd) and SEG International Bhd, where he is the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the 
Remuneration Committee for both companies. He is also a 
member of the Nominating Committee of SEG International 
Bhd.

Dr Wong Pak Seng
Executive Director

Dr Wong Pak Seng, a Malaysian aged 38, was appointed 
to the Board as Executive Director on 3 June 2005.

Dr Wong graduated from Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia 
in 1994 and commenced obstetrics and gynaecology 
training in 1996. He spent one year as a specialist 
registrar in O&G in Edinburgh, Scotland.

Dr Wong passed the Membership of the Royal College of 
Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, United Kingdom (“UK”) 
in 2000. He subsequently passed the Master Medicine 
in O&G (M. Med) from University of Malaya in 2001. 
Additionally, he is a member of the British Fertility Society 
and Association of Clinical Embryologists in the UK.

Dr Wong worked as a clinical specialist in Kuantan General 
Hospital from 2001 to 2002. Subsequently he underwent 
subspecialty training in Infertility and Reproductive 
Medicine at London Fertility Centre, London for one year. 
At the same time, he also underwent clinical attachment 
in Minimal Access Surgery at the Royal Free Hospital, 
London, gaining valuable exposure in laparoscopic and 
hysteroscopic work. Upon his return from London in 2003, 
Dr Wong joined the Group as a Consultant in Obstetrics, 
Gynaecology and infertility
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Lee Soon Swee
Non-Independent
Non-Executive Director

Lee Soon Swee, a Malaysian aged 36, was appointed to 
the Board as Non-Independent Non-Executive Director on 
3 June 2005.

He graduated with degrees in Aerospace and Mechanical 
Engineering from Wichita State University, USA. He has 
over 9 years experience in R&D, process and laboratory 
testing in the specialty materials industry with multi 
national corporations. He had been faculty member in the 
National Institute of Aviation Research (USA) for more than 
a year. With his expertise in laboratory and contamination 
control, he brings to the Group an understanding of 
the requirements for developing the Group’s medical 
technology in achieving higher clinical yields. His 
experience in materials and semiconductor technology 
will help guide the Group’s intention to invent and develop 
equipment designed to enhance fertility outcome. He 
has no family relationship with any Director and/or major 
shareholder of the Company save for being the brother of 
Dr Colin Lee Soon Soo, who is also the Managing Director 
of the Company. He currently holds a technical managerial 
position with a multi national company.

Dato’ Dr Tan Kee Kwong
Independent Non-Executive Director

Dato’ Dr Tan Kee Kwong, a Malaysian aged 59, was 
appointed to the Board as Independent Non-Executive 
Director on 3 June 2005. He is the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee of the Company.

He graduated with an MBBS from the Faculty of Medicine, 
University of Malaya in 1973. He joined the Government 
service as a medical officer in 1974 until 1977. Between 
1977 and 1980, he worked as a medical officer with the 
British National Health Service. From 1981 to 1983, he 
was a volunteer rural health officer in Southern Sudan, 
Africa. In 1985, he commenced private medical general 
practice until 1999, when he was made a Deputy Minister 
in the Ministry of Land and Cooperative Development, a 
post he held until 2004.

He has been a Member of Parliament for Segambut, 
Kuala Lumpur since 1995 and was conferred Datukship 
in 2004. He is currently also the Chairman of the Board 
of Governers of Sekolah Menengah Laki-Laki Methodist, 
Sentul; Chairman of Pusat Bantuan Sentul; Adviser to the 
Young Malaysian Movement; Chairman of the Management 
Committee of Wesley Methodist School and Chairman of 
the Board of Management of Methodist College Kuala 
Lumpur.

the board of directors (cont’d)

Dr Yap Teck Long
Independent Non-Executive Director

Dr Yap Teck Long, a Malaysian aged 51, was appointed 
to the Board as Independent Non-Executive Director on 3 
June 2005. He is a member of the Audit Committee of the 
Company. He graduated with an MBBS from University of 
New South Wales, Australia in 1981. He is a primary care 
doctor and runs his own practice (Klinik Uni-Med) in Kuala 
Lumpur. He brings with him expertise in securing contracts 
to widen the referral base of the Group.

Dr Francis Lisa Muga
Independent Non-Executive Director

Dr Francis Lisa Muga, a Malaysian aged 49, was appointed 
to the Board as Independent Non-Executive Director on 3 
June 2005. He is a member of the Audit Committee of 
the Company. He graduated with a Bachelor’s Degree in 
Medicine and Surgery from University of Malaya in 1983. 
He is in general practice, especially general medicine 
and family medicine, and has been doing so for over 20 
years. He is currently a partner and medical practitioner 
in Kumpulan Medic clinics, under the Qualitas Medical 
Group.

Dr Surinder Singh A/L Ranbir Singh
Alternate Director to Dr Wong Pak Seng

Dr Surinder Singh A/L Ranbir Singh, a Malaysian aged 
49, was appointed to the Board as Alternate Director to 
Dr Wong Pak Seng on 3 June 2005. He is a Consultant 
Obstetrician and Gynaecologist who subspecialises in 
Reproductive Endocrinology and Laparoscopic surgery, 
and has been in medical practice for the last twelve 
years.

He graduated with MBBS (Manipal) and MMED O&G 
(Malaysia) in 1994 and 2001 respectively. He has worked 
in two local universities in Malaysia, namely Universiti Sains 
Malaysia from 1999 to 2001, and Universiti Kebangsaan 
Malaysia from 2002 to 2003. He joined the Group in 
2003, and was involved in the management of about 200 
IVF cycles, including ICSI and blastocyst transfers in the 
Group’s headquarters in Kuala Lumpur, before going on to 
be the Medical Director of the Group’s first regional branch 
in Johor Bahru. He and his team of scientists, nurses and 
other support staff work both independently and cohesively 
with DWSC in the field of test-tube baby technologies.

He led his team to do Johor proud by elevating local ART 
pregnancy rates to those comparable to top centres 
worldwide. He and his team have also successfully 
introduced innovative techniques in the state, such as 
frozen-embryo technologies, oocytes-donation, gender 
selection, and blastocyst culture, from which embryonic 
stem-cells can be harvested for research.

Dr Surinder and his team are the first in Johor to produce 
a blastocyst-transfer baby. He and his team are also 
responsible for a majority of ART babies, egg-donation and 
sperm donation IVF babies in Johor so far.
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key management team

Dr Colin Lee
Managing Director

Amos Siew
Executive Director

Dr Wong Pak Seng
Consultant O&G 

Dr Surinder Singh
Consultant O&G

Dr Dev Menon
Consultant O&G 

Wenddi Anne
Chong Wai Yeng
Group Administrative Director

Carol Lee Beng Hoon
Matron (Damansara Utama)

Patricia Kang Poh Gek
Matron (Johor Bahru)

Grace Khoo Pei Uee
Embryologist (Damansara Utama)

Ryan Tan Chee Kin
Embryologist (Damansara Utama)

Low Sin Yee
Embryologist (Johor Bahru)

Dr John Keith
Visiting Consultant Embryologist

Chow Choon Foong
Operating Theatre Sister

Chong Kong Hui
Accountant
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corporate governance statement

The Board of Directors is pleased to report that during the year under review, the Group continued to pursue its long-
standing commitment to corporate governance and protection of shareholder value. The commitment has been central to 
the Group’s achievements and strong financial profile todate.

The Board continues to apply the principles and best practices as governed by the Listing Requirements of the MESDAQ 
Market (“Listing Requirements”) of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) and Guidance Notes 2 on 
Corporate Governance (“Guidance Notes”), both of which were issued in March 2002 to undertake additional measures, 
principles and recommendation embodied in the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance and strive to adopt the 
substance and not merely the form behind the corporate governance prescription.

(A) Board Of Directors

TMC Life Sciences Berhad is controlled and led by a Board of Directors who is responsible to the shareholders for the 
management of the Company. The Board is responsible for the Group’s overall strategy and objectives, its acquisition and 
divestment policies, financial policy and major capital expenditure projects and the consideration of significant financial 
matters.

The Board’s wide spectrum of skills and experience give added strength to the leadership, thus ensuring the Group is 
under the guidance of an accountable and competent Board. The Board of Directors operates within a robust set of 
governance as set out below:

• Composition of the Board

 The Board currently has nine (9) members including an alternate director, comprising four (4) executive members 
and five (5) non-executive members. Of the nine (9) members, four (4) are independent. The Board complies with 
the Listing Requirements for the Board to have at least two (2) independent directors, and for the selection and 
appointment of independent directors to be a matter for the Board as a whole.

 The profiles of the Board members are as set out on pages 14 and 15 of this Annual Report.

• Board Meeting

 Board meetings are scheduled four (4) times per annum to review the Group’s operations and to approve the 
quarterly and annual financial statements. For the financial year ended 31 December 2005, only one (1) Board 
meeting was held shortly after the Company’s listing on the MESDAQ Market of Bursa Securities on 6 October 2005. 
All Directors attended that Board Meeting.

• Supply of and Access to Information and Advice

 The Board has a formal schedule of matters reserved specifically for its decision. The Board is supplied with 
information in a timely fashion and appropriate quality to enable them to discharge their duties and due notice is 
given to Directors with regard to issues to be discussed. All resolutions are recorded and thereafter circulated to the 
Directors for comments before minutes of proceedings are finalised and confirmed.

 Directors are given access to any information within the Company and are free to seek independent professional 
advice at the Company’s expense, if necessary, in furtherance of their duties. Towards this end, there is an agreed 
procedure in place for Directors to acquire independent professional advice to ensure the Board functions effectively. 
All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary who is responsible for ensuring that 
Board procedures are met and advises the Board on compliance issues.

• Directors’ Training

 All Directors have attended the Mandatory Accreditation Programme (MAP) pursuant to Bursa Securities’ guidelines 
on Training for Directors.

 To keep abreast with developments in the market, industry and corporate scene, Directors are encouraged to 
continuously update themselves with changes of guidelines issued by the relevant authorities as well as to attend 
such programmes which can complement their services to the Group.
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corporate governance statement (cont’d)

• Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

 All appointments were finalised prior to the Company’s listing last year. There has been no new appointment since 
the listing of the Company on the MESDAQ Market of Bursa Securities as the Board was satisfied that the present 
Board possesses adequate experience and expertise to efficiently oversee the management of the Group.

 In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, at every Annual General Meeting one-third of the Directors 
are subject to retirement by rotation such that each Director shall retire from office once in every three (3) years or, 
if their number is not three (3) or a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to one third shall retire from office such 
that each Director shall retire from office once in every three (3) years and if there is only one (1) Director who is 
subject to retirement by rotation, he shall retire. All Directors who retire from office shall be eligible for re-election.

 Further, pursuant to Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965, Directors over the age of 70 are required to offer 
themselves for re-election at every Annual General Meeting.

• Directors’ Remuneration

 The remuneration of Directors is determined at levels that enable the Company to attract and retain experienced and 
capable directors to run the Company successfully.

 The remuneration package for the Executive Directors comprises of salary and allowances.

 The aggregate remuneration of the Directors for the financial year ended 31 December 2005 is as follows:-

RM
Executive 3,828,315

Non-Executive 19,500

Total 3,847,815

 The number of Directors who served during the financial year whose remuneration falls into the following bands:-

Number of Directors
Range of Remuneration (RM) Executive Non-Executive
1 – 100,000 1 5

100,001 – 200,000 3 -

200,001 – 500,000 1 -

500,001 – 1,000,000 - -

1,000,001 – 2,000,000 - -

2,000,001 – 3,000,000 1 -

Total RM3,828,315 RM19,500

(B) Audit Committee

The Company has in place an Audit Committee which comprises three (3) non-executive directors and one (1) executive 
director. 

The role of the Audit Committee is to oversee the processes for production of the financial data, review the financial 
reports, all related party transactions, potential conflict of interests’ situations and the internal control of the Group.

The report detailing the activities of the Audit Committee is presented on pages 22 to 25 of this Annual Report.
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corporate governance statement (cont’d)

(C) Shareholders

• Dialogue between the Company and Investors

 The Company strives to maintain an open and transparent channel of communication with its shareholders, 
institutional investors and the investing public at large with the objectives of providing as clear and complete a picture 
of the Group’s performance and position as possible.

 Such information is communicated through the following channels -

• The Annual Report;
• The various disclosures and announcement to Bursa Securities including quarterly and annual results; 
• The Investor Relations Channel at http://ir.wallstraits.net/tmc/; and
• Participating in Investor Forum with research analysts, fund managers and investors.

• Annual General Meeting

 The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) is the principal forum for dialogue with shareholders. The Company values 
feedback from its shareholders and encourages them to actively participate in discussion and deliberations. AGMs 
are held yearly to consider the ordinary business of the Company and any other special businesses. Each item 
of special businesses included in the notice is accompanied by a full explanation of the effects of the proposed 
resolution. During the annual and other general meetings, shareholders have direct access to Board members who 
are on hand to answer their questions, either on specific resolutions or on the Company generally. The Chairman 
ensures that a reasonable time is provided to the shareholders for discussion at the meeting before each resolution 
is proposed.

(D) Accountability & Audit

• Financial Reporting

 The Board subscribes to the philosophy of transparent, fair, reliable and easily comprehensible reporting to 
shareholders. The Board acknowledges and accepts full responsibility for preparing a balanced and comprehensive 
assessment of the Group’s operation and prospects each time it releases its quarterly and annual financial statements 
to shareholders.  On this matter, the Board is assisted by the Audit Committee, whose terms of reference are defined 
in the Audit Committee Report published in this Annual Report.

• Relationship with the Auditors

 The Board on its own and through the Audit Committee, has a formal and transparent management for maintaining 
an appropriate relationship with the Company’s auditors. The Audit Committee seeks regular assurance on the 
effectiveness of the internal control system through independent appraisal by the auditors. Liaison and unrestricted 
communication exists between the Audit Committee and the external auditors.

• Internal Control

 The Board is responsible to review the adequacy and integrity of the Company’s internal control system.  The Group 
at present does not have an internal audit department.  Due to the size of the Group, the Board is of the opinion that 
the current control mechanism, procedures and policies are adequate for the current level of operations.

 During the year, there were no weaknesses in the system of internal control that has resulted in any material losses, 
contingencies or uncertainties, which require disclosure in the Company’s Annual Report.

 The information on the Group’s Internal Control Statement is as set out on page 26 of this Annual Report.
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 (E) Responsibility Statement By Directors

 The Directors are to ensure that the annual financial statements of the Company are drawn up in accordance with 
the requirements of the applicable approved accounting standards in Malaysia, the provisions of the Companies Act, 
1965 and the Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities.

 The Directors have the responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements of the Company give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at the end of the financial year and the results and cash 
flows for the year then ended.

 The Directors have overall responsibility for taking reasonable steps to safeguard the assets of the Company to 
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

 
(G) Statement On Material Contracts Involving Directors’ Interest

 Save as disclosed below, there were no material contracts involving the Directors’ Interest during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2005:-

(i) Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 6 May 2005 entered into between Dr. Colin Lee, Lim Dee Dek @ Lim Tua 
Lek, Lee Soon Ai, Ooi Lay Pheng, Amos Siew and Amos Tan En Wai (“Vendors”) and the Company (“Purchaser”) 
whereby the Vendors agreed to sell and the Purchaser agreed to buy from the Vendors the Two Million One 
Hundred and Eighty Thousand (2,180,000) issued and fully paid up ordinary shares in the capital of Damansara 
Women’s Specialist Centre Sdn. Bhd. representing the entire issued and paid up capital of Damansara Women’s 
Specialist Centre Sdn. Bhd. at a purchase price of Ringgit Malaysia Eleven Million Seven Hundred and Thirty-two 
Thousand and Fifty-five (RM11,732,055-00).

(ii) Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 6 May 2005 entered into between Dr. Colin Lee, Lim Dee Dek @ Lim Tua 
Lek, Amos Siew and Amos Tan En Wai (“Vendors”) and the Company (“Purchaser”) whereby the Vendors agreed 
to sell and the Purchaser agreed to buy from the Vendors the One Thousand (1,000) issued and fully paid up 
ordinary shares in the capital of IVF Technologies Sdn. Bhd. representing the entire issued and paid up capital 
of IVF Technologies Sdn. Bhd. at a purchase price of Ringgit Malaysia Seventy Thousand Nine Hundred and 
Forty-three (RM70,943-00).

(iii) Assignment Agreement dated 23 May 2005 entered into between Dr Colin Lee and Damansara Women’s 
Specialist Centre Sdn. Bhd. whereby Dr Colin Lee had agreed to assign the trademark under Class 6 to 
Damansara Women’s Specialist Centre Sdn. Bhd. for a consideration of Ringgit Malaysia Ten (RM10-00) only.

corporate governance statement (cont’d)
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audit committee report

The Audit Committee comprises of the following members:

• Dato’ Dr. Tan Kee Kwong - Chairman  (Independent Non-Executive Director)
• Amos Siew Boon Yeong - Member (Executive Director)
• Dr. Yap Teck Long – Member (Independent Non-Executive Director)
• Dr. Francis Lisa Muga  - Member (Independent Non-Executive Director)

After the listing of the Company on 6 October 2005, the Audit Committee had one (1) meeting during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2005, which was attended by all members.

SUMMARY OF THE ACTIVITIES OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee carried out its duties as set out in the terms of reference. These include:

i. Reviewed the Company’s quarterly financial report prior to submission to the Board for consideration and approval, 
focusing particularly on significant and unusual events and compliance with accounting standards and other legal 
requirements.

ii. Reviewed and assessed the adequacy of the scope, functions and resources of the Internal Audit procedures in order 
to report any weakness or inadequacy to the Board.

iii. Reviewed the External Audit Planning Memorandum on both the audit strategy and audit approach and reviewed the 
adequacy of existing external audit arrangements, with emphasis on the scope and quality of the audit.

iv. Reviewed effectiveness of the internal control and management information systems.

v. Reviewed the related party transactions and to ensure that they are not more favourable to the related parties than 
those generally available to the public and complies with the Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities for MESDAQ 
Market.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Group at present does not have an internal audit department. Due to the size of the Group, the Board is of the opinion 
that the current control mechanism, procedures and policies are adequate for the current level of operations.

The Company has conducted ongoing review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal control. Some 
internal control weaknesses were identified during the financial year under review, all of which have been or are being 
addressed by the management. None of these weaknesses has resulted in any material loss that would require disclosure 
in the Group’s financial statement.
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audit committee report (cont’d)

TERMS OF REFERENCE

Primary Purposes

The Audit Committee shall:-

1. provide assistance to the Board in fulfilling its fiduciary responsibilities relating to the corporate accounting and 
practices for the Group.

2. improve the Group’s business efficiency, the quality of the accounting function, the system of internal controls and 
audit function and strengthen the confidence of the public in the Group’s reported results. 

3. maintain through regularly scheduled meetings, a direct line of communication between the Board and the external 
auditors as well as the internal auditors.

4. enhance the independence of both the external and internal auditors function through active participation in the audit 
process.

5. strengthen the role of the independent Directors by giving them a greater depth of knowledge as to the operations 
of the Company and the Group through their participation in the Committee.

6. act upon the Board of Directors’ request to investigate and report on any issues or concerns in regard to the 
management of the Group.

Members

The Board of Directors shall appoint the members of the Audit Committee from amongst themselves, which fulfills the 
following requirements: - 

1. The Audit Committee shall be composed of no fewer than three (3) members;

2. A majority of the Audit Committee must be independent directors;

3. The Chairman of the Audit Committee shall be an independent director; and

4. The Chief Executive Officer shall not be a member of the Audit Committee.

In the event of any vacancy in the Audit Committee, the Company shall fill in the vacancy within two (2) months, but in any 
case not later than three (3) months.

Authority

The Audit Committee shall in accordance with the procedures determined by the Board and at the cost of the Company:-

a. have explicit authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference;

b. have the resources which are required to perform its duties;

c. have full access to any information which it requires in the course of performing its duties;

d. have unrestricted access to the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer;

e. have direct communication channels with the external auditors and person(s) carrying out the internal audit 
function; 
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audit committee report (cont’d)

f. be able to obtain independent/external professional or other advice and to secure the attendance of outsiders with 
relevant experience and expertise if it considers this necessary; and

g. be able to convene meetings with the external auditors excluding the attendance of the executive members of the 
Company, whenever deemed necessary.

Functions and Duties

The functions of the Audit Committee are as follows:-

1. To review the following and report the same to the Board of Directors:-

a. the nomination of external auditors;

b. the adequacy of existing external auditors audit arrangements, with particular emphasis on the scope and 
quality of the audit;

c. the effectiveness and adequacy of the scope, functions and resources of the internal audit functions and that it 
has the necessary authority to carry out its work; 

d. the effectiveness of the internal control and management information systems; 

e. the financial statements of the Company with both the external auditors and management; 

f. the external auditors’ audit report;

g. any management letter sent by the external auditors to the Company and the management’s response to such 
letter;

h. any letter of resignation from the Company’s external auditors;

i. the assistance given by the employees of the Company to the external auditors;

j. all areas of significant financial risk and the arrangements in place to contain those risks to acceptable levels; 
and

k. all related party transactions and potential conflict of interests situations that may arise within the Company/
Group.

2. To consider the appointment of the external auditors, the audit fee and any questions of resignation or dismissal and 
on whether there is reason (supported by grounds) to believe that the Company’s external auditors is not suitable for 
re-appointment.

3. To carry out any other function that may be mutually agreed upon by the Committee and the Board which would be 
beneficial to the Company and ensure the effective discharge of the Committee’s duties and responsibilities.

4. The Committee actions shall be reported to the Board of Directors with such recommendations as the Committee 
deemed appropriate.

5. To report to the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) on any matter reported by it to the Board 
of the Company which has not been satisfactorily resolved resulting in a breach of the Bursa Securities Listing 
Requirements.
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Meetings

1. The committee shall meet at least four (4) times in a year or more frequently as circumstances required with due 
notice of issues to be discussed and shall record its conclusions in discharging its duties and responsibilities.

2. A minimum of two (2) members present shall form the quorum.

3. Upon the request of any member of the Committee, the external auditors or the internal auditors, the Chairman of the 
Committee shall convene a meeting of the Committee to consider matters which should be brought to the attention 
of the directors or shareholders.

4. The external auditors and internal auditors have the right to appear and be heard at any meeting of the Committee 
and shall appear before the Committee when required to do so by the Committee.

5. The Committee may invite any Board member or any member of management or any employee of the Company who 
the Committee thinks fit to attend its meetings to assist and to provide pertinent information as necessary.

6. The Company must ensure that other directors and employees attend any particular Audit Committee meeting only 
at the Audit Committee’s invitation, specific to the relevant meeting.

Procedures of Audit Committee

The Audit Committee may regulate its own procedures, in particular:-

a. the calling of meetings; 

b. the notice to be given of such meetings; 

c. the voting and proceedings of such meetings; 

d. the keeping of minutes; and 

e. the custody, production and inspection of such minutes.

Secretary

The Company Secretary or other appropriate senior official shall be the Secretary to the Audit Committee.

audit committee report (cont’d)
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statement of internal control

The Board is committed to maintaining a sound system of internal control in the Group and is pleased to present below 
a status review of the Group’s state of internal controls, which has been prepared in accordance with the Statement on 
Internal Control: Guidance for Directors of Public Listed Companies.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY

The Board of Directors affirms that it is ultimately responsible for the Group’s systems on internal controls that include the 
assurance of its adequacy and integrity at all times, and its alignment with the Company’s business objectives. However, it 
should be noted, that these systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risks of failure to achieve business 
objectives; and as such, could only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or 
loss.

SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL

The key process of the Group’s Internal Control System include:

i) the Group has an established organization structure with clearly defined lines of responsibilities and appropriate 
levels of delegation and authority.

ii) a clear definition of authorization procedures for major operational functions including purchasing, payment and 
capital expenditures.

iii) regular management meetings to monitor the business developments, to discuss and resolve operational and 
management issues and to review the financial performance against the business plans.

iv) the Audit Committee would review the effectiveness of the internal financial control environment of the Group. 
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directors’ report

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2005.

Principal Activity

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries acquired are in 
gynaecological, fertility services, research and development in life sciences.

There has been no change in the nature of these activities during the year.

Financial Results

GROUP
RM 

COMPANY
RM 

Profit for the year 4,676,178 1,357,644

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year.

In the opinion of the Directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year have 
not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

Dividends

No dividends were paid by the Company since 31 December 2004.

Directors

The names of the Directors of the Company in office since the date of the last report and at the date of this report are:-

Professor Dato’ Dr Khalid Bin Abdul Kadir

Dr. Lee Soon Soo (appointed on 3 June 2005)

Amos Siew Boon Yeong (appointed on 3 June 2005)

Dato’ Dr. Tan Kee Kwong (appointed on 3 June 2005)

Dr. Wong Pak Seng (appointed on 3 June 2005)

Dr. Yap Teck Long (appointed on 3 June 2005)

Dr. Francis Lisa Muga (appointed on 3 June 2005)

Lee Soon Swee (appointed on 3 June 2005)

Dr. Surinder Singh A/L Ranbir Singh
 (Alternate Director to Dr. Wong Pak Seng) (appointed on 3 June 2005)

Noraida Binti Hj. Aziz (resigned on 3 June 2005)

Siti Junainah Binti Dewa (resigned on 3 June 2005)
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directors’ report (cont’d)

Directors’ Benefits

Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangement to which the 
Company or a related corporation was a party, whereby the Directors might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition 
of shares in, and/or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director has received or become entitled to receive any benefits by reason 
of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with any Director or with a firm of which the Director is a 
member, or with a company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest required to be disclosed by Section 
169(8) of the Companies Act 1965.

Directors’ Interests

According to the register of Directors’ shareholdings, the interests of Directors in office at the end of the financial year in 
shares in the Company during the financial year were as follows:

Number of Ordinary Shares of RM0.10 Each
1 Jan 2005 Acquired Sold 31 Dec 2005

The Company
Direct Interest:

Professor Dato’ Dr. Khalid Bin Abdul Kadir - 20,000 - 20,000

Dr. Lee Soon Soo - 82,773,009 - 82,773,009

Amos Siew Boon Yeong - 3,075,287 - 3,075,287

Dato’ Dr. Tan Kee Kwong - 20,000 (10,000) 10,000

Dr. Wong Pak Seng - 1,080,000 (80,000) 1,000,000

Dr. Yap Teck Long - 20,000 (20,000) -

Dr. Francis Lisa Muga - 20,000 (18,000) 2,000 

Dr. Surinder Singh A/L Ranbir Singh - 900,000 - 900,000

Lee Soon Swee - 55,600 (50,000) 5,600
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directors’ report (cont’d)

Other Significant Events

For significant events, refer to Note 23 of the notes to the financial statements.

Other Statutory Information

(a) Before the income statement and balance sheet of the Group and of the Company were made out, the Directors 
took reasonable steps:-

(i) to ascertain that proper action has been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making 
of provision for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that there were no known bad debts and that no 
provision for doubtful debts was necessary; and

(ii) to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their value as shown in the accounting records 
in the ordinary course of business have been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to 
realise.

(b) At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which render 
adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or 
inappropriate.

(c) At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report 
or financial statements of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount stated in the financial 
statements misleading.

(d) As at the date of this report, there does not exist:-

(i) any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year 
which secures the liabilities of any other person; or

(ii) any contingent liability in respect of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the 
financial year.

(e) In the opinion of the Directors:-

(i) no contingent liability or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the 
period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Group and 
of the Company to meet its obligations as and when they fall due; and

(ii) no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of the 
financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of 
the Group and of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made.

Auditors

The auditors, Ernst & Young, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Dr. Lee Soon Soo Dr. Wong Pak Seng

Petaling Jaya, Selangor, Malaysia

26 April 2006
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We, Dr. Lee Soon Soo and Dr. Wong Pak Seng being the Directors of TMC Life Sciences Berhad, do hereby state that in 
the opinion of the Directors, the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 33 to 55 are drawn up in accordance 
with applicable MASB Approved Accounting Standards in Malaysia and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 so as 
to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2005 and of the 
results and cashflows of the Group and of the Company for the year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Dr. Lee Soon Soo Dr. Wong Pak Seng

Petaling Jaya, Selangor, Malaysia

26 April 2006

I, Dr. Lee Soon Soo, the Director primarily responsible for the financial management of TMC Life Sciences Berhad, do 
solemnly and sincerely declare that the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 33 to 55 are in my opinion, 
correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions 
of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by
the abovenamed Dr. Lee Soon Soo
in Petaling Jaya, Selangor, Malaysia
on 26 April 2006 Dr. Lee Soon Soo

Before me,

statement by directors 
pursuant to section 169(15) of the companies act 1965

statutory declaration
pursuant to section 169(16) of the companies act 1965
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report of the auditors
to the members of TMC Life Sciences Berhad (incorporated in Malaysia)

We have audited the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 33 to 55. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s Directors. 

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on the financial statements and to report our 
opinion to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act, 1965 and for no other purpose. We do 
not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with applicable Approved Standards on Auditing in Malaysia.  Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates 
made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion:-

(a) the financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965, and 
applicable MASB Approved Accounting Standards in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of:-

(i) the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2005 and of the results and the 
cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the year then ended; and

(ii) the matters required by Section 169 of the Companies Act 1965 to be dealt with in the financial statements; 
and

(b) the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and its 
subsidiaries of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the 
Act.

We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the financial statements 
of the Company are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements and we have received satisfactory information and explanation required by us for those purposes.

The auditors’ reports on the financial statements of the subsidiaries were not subject to any qualification material to the 
consolidated financial statements and did not include any comment required to be made under Section 174(3) of the 
Act.

ERNST & YOUNG Yeo Eng Seng

AF : 0039 No. 1212/12/06 (J)

Chartered Accountants Partner

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

26 April 2006
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Group Company

Note
2005

RM
2005

RM
2004

RM

Revenue 21,480,994 1,962,000 -

Other operating income 405,698 1,775 -

Cost of drugs, consumables used and locum charges (3,456,819) - -

Staff and consultancy costs 3 (4,556,380) (23,800) -

Depreciation (546,662) - -

Other operating expenses (2,297,270) (32,971) (5,047)

Profit / (loss) from operations 3 11,029,561 1,907,004 (5,047)

Finance costs (6,937) - - 

Profit / (loss) before taxation 11,022,624 1,907,004 (5,047)

Taxation 5 (3,220,879) (549,360) - 

Profit / (loss) after taxation 7,801,745 1,357,644 (5,047)

Pre-acquisition profits (3,125,567) - - 

Net profit / (loss) for the year 4,676,178 1,357,644 (5,047)

Earnings per share 6 5.57 sen

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

income statement
for the year ended 31 december 2005
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balance sheet 
as at 31 december 2005

Group Company

Note
2005

RM
2005

RM
2004

RM

Non Current Assets
Investment in subsidiaries 7 - 11,802,998 -

Property, plant and equipment 8 23,488,957 - -

Project development costs 10 2,990,057 - -

Current Assets
Inventories 9 497,103 - -

Project development costs 10 1,395,238 - -

Trade receivables 11 372,295

Other receivables and prepayment 12 1,116,498 1,936 369,818

Amount due from subsidiary company 13 - 16,573,387 -

Cash and bank balances 14 17,219,547 243,255 2

20,600,681 16,818,578 369,820

Current Liabilities
Trade payables 15 1,014,193 - -

Other payables 16 729,810 112,301 375,865

Tax payable 1,074,999 - -

2,819,002 112,301 375,865

Net Current Assets / (Liabilities) 17,781,679 16,706,277 (6,045)

 44,260,693  28,509,275 (6,045)

Financed By:
Share capital 17 16,833,000 16,833,000 2

Share premium 10,324,678 10,324,678 -

Retained profits 18  4,670,131 1,351,597 (6,047)

Reserve on consolidation 9,182,633 - -

Shareholders’ equity / (deficit)  41,010,442 28,509,275 (6,045)

Deferred and long term liability:

Deferred taxation 19 3,250,251 - -

44,260,693 28,509,275 (6,045)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 december 2005

Share
Capital

RM

Share
Premium

RM

Reserve on
Consolidation

RM

Accumulated
Losses /
Retained

Profits
RM

Total
RM

At 1 January 2005 of Company 2 - - (6,047) (6,045)

Issue of share capital 16,832,998 - - - 16,832,998

Share premium -  11,788,000 - -  11,788,000 

Net profit for the year - - - 4,676,178 4,676,178

Listing expenses - (1,463,322) - - (1,463,322)

Arising on consolidation - - 9,182,633 - 9,182,633

     

At 31 December 2005 16,833,000 10,324,678 9,182,633 4,670,131 41,010,442

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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company’s statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 december 2005

Share
Capital

RM

Share
Premium

RM

Accumulated
Losses /
Retained

Profits
RM

Total
RM

At 1 January 2004 2 - (1,000)  (998)

Net loss for the year - -  (5,047)  (5,047)

    

At 31 December 2004 2 -  (6,047)  (6,045)

    

At 1 January 2005 2 -  (6,047)  (6,045)

Issue of share capital

- Acquisition of DWSC 11,732,055 - - 11,732,055

- Acquisition of IVFT 70,943 - - 70,943

- Special issue 820,000 - - 820,000

- Initial public offer 4,210,000 11,788,000 - 15,998,000

Listing expenses -  (1,463,322) -  (1,463,322)

Net profit for the year - - 1,357,644 1,357,644

    

At 31 December 2005 16,833,000 10,324,678 1,351,597 28,509,275

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 december 2005

2005
RM

Cash Flow From Operating Activities
Profit before taxation 11,022,624

Adjustments for:

Pre-acquisition profit before tax (4,285,601)

Interest expense 6,937

Interest income (234,062)

Provision for doubtful debts 52,952

Depreciation 546,662 

Operating profit before working capital changes 7,109,512

Interest received 234,062

Inventories (497,103)

Receivables (1,541,310) 

Payables 1,368,138 

Cash generated from operations 6,673,299

Tax paid (800,518)

Net cash generated from operating activities 5,872,781

Cash Flow From Investing Activities
Reserve on consolidation 9,182,633

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (24,035,619)

Project development costs (4,385,295)

Deferred taxation credit 3,064,923

Net cash used in investing activities  (16,173,358)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 december 2005 (cont’d)

2005
RM

Cash Flow From Financing Activities
Interest paid (6,937)

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares 28,620,998

Listing expenses (1,093,939)

 

Net cash generated from financing activities 27,520,122

Net Increase In Cash And Cash Equivalents 17,219,545

Cash And Cash Equivalents At Beginning Of Financial Year 2

 

Cash And Cash Equivalents At End Of Financial Year (Note 14) 17,219,547

The effect of the acquisition of subsidiaries on the cash flow statement are as follows:-

Fair value of assets and liabilities at date of acquisition

Property, plant & equipment 23,294,803

Project development costs 2,977,752

Net currrent liabilities (2,188,774)

Reserve on consolidation (9,182,633)

Deferred taxation (3,098,150)

11,802,998

Settled by

Shares issued to vendors 11,802,998

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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company’s cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 december 2005

2005
RM

2004
RM

Cash Flow From Operating Activities
Profit / (loss) before taxation 1,907,004  (5,047)

Adjustments for:

Dividend income  (1,962,000) -

Interest income  (1,775) -

Operating profit before working capital changes (56,771) (5,047)

Interest received  1,775 -

Expenses carried forward -  (239,575)

Receivables (1,501) (435)

Amount due from subsidiary (16,573,387) -

Payables (263,564) 245,057

Cash used in operations (16,893,448) -

Tax paid - -

  

Net cash used in operating activities (16,893,448)  -

Cash Flow From Investing Activities
Net dividends received  1,412,640 -

Investment in subsidiaries  (11,802,998) -

  

Net cash used in investing activities  (10,390,358) -

Cash Flow From Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares  28,620,998 -

Listing expenses incurred  (1,093,939) -

  

Net cash generated from financing activities 27,527,059 -

Net Increase In Cash And Cash Equivalents 243,253 -

Cash And Cash Equivalents At Beginning Of Financial Year 2 2

  

Cash And Cash Equivalents At End Of Financial Year (Note 14) 243,255 2

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 december 2005

1. Corporate Information

 The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are in 
gynaecological, fertility services, research and development in life sciences. There have been no significant 
changes in the nature of the principal activities during the financial year.

 The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and is listed on the 
Mesdaq Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.  The registered office of the Company is located at 312 Block 
C, Kelana Square, 17 Jalan SS7/26, 47301 Petaling Jaya, Selangor. The principal place of business is located at 
55, Jalan SS21/56B, Damansara Utama, 47400 Petaling Jaya, Selangor.

 The number of employees in the Group and the Company at the end of the financial year was 50 (2004:Nil) and Nil 
(2004:Nil) respectively.

 The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the 
Directors on 25 April 2006.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Preparation

 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention.  The financial statements comply with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 and applicable 
MASB Approved Accounting Standards in Malaysia.  

 During the financial year ended 31 December 2005, the Group and the Company adopted the following MASB 
standard for the first time:

 MASB 11   Consolidated Financial Statements and Investment in Subsidiaries

 The adoption of the above new standard has not given rise to any adjustments to the opening balances of the 
retained profits of the prior and current year.

(b) Basis of Consolidation

 The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.  
The subsidiary is an entity in which the Group has power to exercise control over the financial and operating 
policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

 Subsidiary is consolidated using the acquisition method of accounting.  Under the acquisition method of 
accounting, the results of the subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the financial year is included in the 
consolidated income statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, 
as appropriate.  The assets and liabilities of the subsidiary are measured at their fair value at the date of 
acquisition.  The difference between the cost of an acquisition and the fair value of the Group’s share of the 
net assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition is included in the consolidated balance sheet 
as goodwill or reserve arising at consolidation.

 Intra-group transactions, balances and resulting unrealised gains are eliminated on consolidation and the 
consolidated financial statements reflect external transactions only. 
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(c) Goodwill

 Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value of 
the identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity at the date of 
acquisition.

 Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. The policy for the recognition 
and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 2(m). Goodwill arising on the acquisition of 
subsidiaries is presented separately in the balance sheet while goodwill arising on the acquisition of associate 
and jointly controlled entities is included within the respective carrying amounts of these investments.

 Negative goodwill represents the excess of the Group’s interest in  the fair value of the identifiable assets 
and liabilities of a subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity at the date of acquisition over the cost of 
acquisition.

(d) Investments in Subsidiaries

 The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment losses. The policy for the 
recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 2(m).

(e) Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation

 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  The 
policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 2(m).

 Leasehold land is stated at cost and will be depreciated upon completion of the hospital thereon.

 Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is provided for on a straight line basis to write off the cost 
of each asset to its residual value over the estimated useful life at the following annual rates:

Furniture and fittings 10% - 15%

Medical equipment 10% - 15%

Computer system 30%

Office equipment 10%

Plant and machinery 10%

Motor vehicles 20%

 Capital work-in-progress are not depreciated.

(f) Inventories

 Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value after adequate provision has been made 
for all damaged, obsolete and slow moving items.  Costs are determined using the first-in-first-out basis.

(g) Cash and Cash Equivalents

 For the purposes of the cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at banks, 
deposits at call and short term highly liquid investments which have an insignificant risk of changes in value, 
net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 december 2005 (cont’d)
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(h) Project Development Costs

 Medical development expenditures incurred on individual projects are carried forward when its future 
recoverability can reasonably be regarded as assured. Following initial recognition, the cost model is applied 
requiring the cost to be carried at cost less any accumulated impairment loss. On completion, any expenditure 
carried forward is amortised to the year of expected future benefits from the related project. The carrying 
value of development costs is reviewed for impairment when indications of impairment arises.

(i) Provisions for Liabilities

 Provisions for liabilities are recognised when there is a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, 
and a reliable estimate of an amount can be made.  Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and 
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.  Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the 
amount of provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.

(j) Income Tax

 Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax.  Current tax is the expected 
amount of income taxes payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year and is measured using the tax 
rates that have been enacted at the balance sheet date.

 Deferred tax is provided for, using the liability method, on temporary differences at the balance sheet date 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  In 
principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax 
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.  Deferred tax is not recognised if the 
temporary difference arises from goodwill or negative goodwill or from the initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
accounting profit nor taxable profit.

 Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised or 
the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet 
date.  Deferred tax is recognised in the income statement, except when it arises from a transaction  which is 
recognised directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also charged or credited directly in equity, or 
when it arises from a business combination that is an acquisition, in which case the deferred tax is included 
in the resulting goodwill or negative goodwill.

notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 december 2005 (cont’d)
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(k) Employee Benefits

(i) Short term benefits
 Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the year 

in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group and of the Company.  Short 
term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services 
are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences, and short-
term non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when the absences 
occur.

(ii) Defined contribution plans
 As required by law, companies in Malaysia make contributions to the Employees Provident Fund (“EPF”).  

Such contributions are recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.

(iii) Termination benefits
 The Group pays termination benefits in cases of termination of employment within the framework of a 

restructuring. Termination benefits are recognised as a liability and an expense when the Group has a 
detailed formal plan for the termination and is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

(l) Revenue Recognition

 Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow 
to the enterprise and the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably. 

 Revenue from services rendered is recognised net of discounts as and when the services are performed.

(m) Impairment of Assets

 At each balance sheet date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its assets, other than inventories, 
deferred tax assets and financial assets, to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have 
suffered an impairment loss.  If any such indication exists, impairment is measured by comparing the carrying 
values of the assets with their recoverable amounts.  Recoverable amount is the higher of net selling price 
and value in use, which is measured by reference to discounted future cash flows.  Recoverable amounts 
are estimated for individual assets or, if it is not possible, for the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs.

 An impairment loss is charged to the income statement immediately, unless the asset is carried at revalued 
amount.  Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease to the extent of any 
available previously recognised revaluation surplus for the same asset.

 Reversal of impairment losses recognised in prior years is recorded when there is an indication that the 
impairment losses recognised for the asset no longer exist or have decreased.  The reversal is recognised 
to the extent of the carrying amount of the asset that would have been determined (net of amortisation and 
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised.  The reversal is recognised in the income statement 
immediately, unless the asset is carried at revalued amount.  A reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued 
asset is credited directly to revaluation surplus.  However, to the extent that an impairment loss on the 
same revalued asset was previously recognised as an expense in the income statement, a reversal of that 
impairment loss is recognised as income in the income statement.

notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 december 2005 (cont’d)
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(n) Financial Instruments

 Financial instruments are recognised in the balance sheet when the Group and the Company have become a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

 Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangement.  Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument classified as a liability, are 
reported as an expense or income.  Distributions to holders of financial instruments classified as equity are 
charged directly to equity.  Financial instruments are offset when the Group and the Company have a legally 
enforceable right to offset and intends to settle either on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

(i) Trade Receivables
 Trade receivables are carried at anticipated realisable values.  Bad debts are written off when identified. 

An estimate is made for doubtful debts based on a review of all outstanding amounts as at balance 
sheet date.

(ii) Trade Payables
 Trade payables are stated at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for 

services rendered.

(iii) Interest-Bearing Borrowings
 Interest-bearing borrowings are recorded at the amount of proceeds received, net of transaction 

costs. 

 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or 
sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially 
ready for their intended use or sale. The amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is 
determined by applying a capitalisation rate which is the weighted average of the borrowing costs 
applicable to the Group and Company’s borrowings that are outstanding during the financial year, other 
than borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining another qualifying asset.  For borrowings 
made specifically for the purpose of acquiring a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible 
for capitalisation is the actual borrowing costs incurred on that borrowing during the period less any 
investment income on the temporary investment of funds drawndown from that borrowing facility. 

 All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the income statement in the period in which 
they incurred.

(iv) Equity Instruments
 Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the 

period in which they are declared.

notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 december 2005 (cont’d)
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notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 december 2005 (cont’d)

3. Profit/(Loss) From Operations

 Profit from operations is stated after charging / (crediting):
 

Group Company
2005

RM
2005

RM
2004

RM
Auditors’ remuneration:

Statutory audit

- Current year 45,000 11,000 1,000

Interest income (234,062) - -

Depreciation (Note 8) 546,662 - -

Rental of business premises 585,747 - -

Provision for doubtful debts 52,952 - -

Rental of car park 5,650 - -

Interest expense 6,937 - -

Staff and consultancy costs (Note below) 4,556,380 23,800 -

 Staff and consultancy costs comprises:

Wages and salaries  4,695,141 23,800 -

Social security costs 13,400 - -

EPF 615,329 - -

Consultancy fees 561,463 - -

Other staff related expenses 54,036 - -

5,939,369 23,800 -

Less: Capitalised on project development costs  (1,382,989) - -

4,556,380 23,800 -

 Included in staff and consultancy costs of the Group is Executive Directors’ remuneration amounting to RM3,828,315 
as further disclosed in Note 4.

4. Directors’ Remuneration

Group Company
2005

RM
2005

RM
2004

RM

Executive: - -

Salaries and other emoluments 3,330,774 - -

EPF 497,541 - -

3,828,315

Non-Executive

Fees 19,500 19,500 -

Total 3,847,815 19,500 -
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notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 december 2005 (cont’d)

4. Directors’ Remuneration (cont’d)

 The number of Directors of the Group whose total remuneration during the financial year fell within the following 
bands is analysed below:

Number of 
Directors

2005
Executive Directors:

RM 1 - RM 100,000 1

RM 100,001 - RM 200,000 3

RM 200,001 - RM 500,000 1

RM 500,001 - RM 1,000,000 -

RM 1,000,001 - RM 2,000,000 -

RM 2,000,001 - RM 3,000,000 1

Non-Executive Directors:

RM 1 - RM 100,000 5

5. Taxation

(a) Tax charge for the financial year:

Group Company
2005

RM
2005

RM
2004

RM

Tax expense for the year  3,017,760 549,360 -

Underprovided in prior years:

Malaysian income tax 17,791 - -

Deferred tax (Note 19):

Relating to origination of temporary timing differences 130,328 - -

Underprovided in prior year 55,000 - -

3,220,879 549,360 -
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notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 december 2005 (cont’d)

5. Taxation (cont’d)

(b) A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit/(loss) before taxation at the statutory income tax 
rate to income tax expense at the effective income tax rate of the Group and of the Company is as follows:

Group Company
2005

RM
2005

RM
2004

RM

Profit / (loss) before taxation 11,022,624 1,907,004 (5,047)

Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 28% (2004: 28%) 3,086,335 533,961 (1,413)

Effect of tax losses not available to offset against
future taxable profits of the Company - - 1,413

Others 61,753 15,399 -

Under provision of tax expense in prior years 72,791 - -

Tax expense for the year 3,220,879 549,360 -

6. Earnings Per Share

 Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares in issue during the financial year by the Company.

 

Group
2005

Net profit for the year (RM) 4,676,178

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 83,885,679

Basic earnings per share (sen) 5.57
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notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 december 2005 (cont’d)

7. Investments In Subsidiaries
 

Company
2005

RM
2004

RM

Unquoted shares at cost 11,802,998 -

 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:
 

Name of subsidiaries Country of
Incorporation

Equity
Interest Held (%)

 Principal
Activities

2005 2004

Damansara Women’s
Specialist Centre
Sdn Bhd (“DWSC”)

Malaysia 100 - Gynaecological
and fertility problem
management

Damansara Fertility
Centre Sdn Bhd (“DFC”)

Malaysia 100 - Gynaecological
and fertility problem 
management

IVF Technologies
Sdn Bhd (“IVFT”)

Malaysia 100 - Provision of consultancy, 
research & development 
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notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 december 2005 (cont’d)

8. Property, Plant and Equipment
 

Group

Long Term
Leasehold

Land
RM

Medical
Equipment

RM

Furniture
& Fittings

RM

Office
Equipment 

&
Computers

RM

Motor
Vehicle

RM

Capital
WIP
RM

Total
2005

RM

Cost
At 1 January of 

subsidiaries 
acquired 19,634,455 2,456,287 448,741 241,155  446,830 653,416 23,880,884

Additions - 65,620 167,367 48,049 465,518 426,792 1,173,346
Reclassification (34,455) (1,275) (90) (1,699) - 34,455 (3,064)
Disposal - - (6,158) - (404,550) - (410,708)
At 31 December 19,600,000 2,520,632 609,860 287,505 507,798 1,114,663 24,640,458

Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 January of 

subsidiaries 
acquired - 448,312 72,326 75,904 89,367 - 685,909

Disposal - - (160) - (80,910) - (81,070)
Charge for the year - 301,274 26,141 117,689 101,558 - 546,662
At 31 December - 749,586 98,307  193,593 110,015 - 1,151,501

Net Book Value
At 31 December 

2005 19,600,000 1,771,046 511,553 93,912 397,783 1,114,663 23,488,957

Depreciation charge 
for 2005 - 301,274 26,141 117,689 101,558 - 546,662

 Included in the cost of capital work in progress is interest capitalised of RM880,343 (2004: RM430,647).

9. Inventories
 

Group
2005

RM

Drugs and Consumables 497,103
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notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 december 2005 (cont’d)

10. Project Development Costs

 These relate to development costs incurred for medical projects for the benefit of the Group. Cost comprise staff 
and consultancy costs, laboratory materials and direct overheads.

 

Group
2005

RM

Project development costs:

Staff and consultancy costs 2,766,843

Laboratory materials and overheads 1,618,452

4,385,295

Group
2005

RM
Expected completion:

Not later than 1 year 1,395,238

Later than 1 year and not later than 3 years 2,990,057

4,385,295

11. Trade Receivables
 

Group Company
2005

RM
2005

RM
2004

RM

Trade receivables 417,357 - -

Less: Provision for doubtful debts (45,062) - -

372,295 - -

 The Group’s normal trade credit term ranges from 30 to 60 days and has no significant concentration of credit risk 
that may arise from exposure to a single debtor or to groups of debtors.

12. Other Receivables

Group Company
2005

RM
2005

RM
2004

RM

Prepayments 490,020 - -

Deposits 63,271 1,500 -

Expenses carried forward - - 369,383

Sundry receivables 563,207 436 435

1,116,498 1,936 369,818
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notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 december 2005 (cont’d)

13. Amount Due From Subsidiary Company

 The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

14. Cash And Cash Equivalents
 

Group Company
2005

RM
2005

RM
2004

RM

Cash on hand and at banks 374,637 41,775 2

Deposits with licensed banks 16,844,910 201,480 -

Cash and bank balances 17,219,547 243,255 2

 The average interest rate for deposit was 3.5% for 2005.

 About RM12,798,000 of the cash and bank balances are earmarked for research and development projects, part 
financing of construction of Tropicana Medical Centre, local and regional expansion as mentioned in the Company’s 
prospectus issued in conjunction with its listing on the Mesdaq Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

15. Trade Payables

Group Company
2005

RM
2005

RM
2004

RM

Trade payables 1,014,193 - -

 The normal trade credit terms granted to the Group and the Company is between 30 to 90 days.

16. Other Payables

Group Company
2005

RM
2005

RM
2004

RM

Accruals 695,502 112,301 --

Other payables 34,308 - 375,865

729,810 112,301 375,865
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notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 december 2005 (cont’d)

17. Share Capital

 Before shares split of its existing ordinary shares of RM1.00 each into ordinary shares of RM0.10 
each.

Number of Ordinary
Shares of RM1.00 Each Amount

2005 2004 2005
RM

2004
RM

Authorised:
At 1 January 25,000,000 100,000 25,000,000 100,000

Increase - 24,900,000 - 24,900,000

Before shares split 25,000,000 25,000,000 25,000,000 25,000,000

Issued and fully paid up:
At 1 January 12,623,000 2 12,623,000 2

Acquisition of DWSC - 11,732,055 - 11,732,055

Acquisition of IVFT - 70,943 - 70,943

Special issue - 820,000 - 820,000

Before shares split 12,623,000 12,623,000 12,623,000 12,623,000

 After shares split of its existing ordinary shares of RM1.00 each into ordinary shares of RM0.10 each.

Number of Ordinary
Shares of RM0.10 Each 

2005
Amount

2005
RM

Authorised:
Before shares split 25,000,000 25,000,000

Shares split 1 to 10 225,000,000 -

At 31 December 250,000,000 25,000,000

Issued and fully paid up:
Before shares split 12,623,000 12,623,000

Shares split 1 to 10 113,607,000 -

Initial public offer 42,100,000 4,210,000

At 31 December 168,330,000 16,833,000

18. Retained Profits

 The Company has sufficent tax credit under Section 108 of the Income Tax 1967 to frank the payment of dividends 
out of its retained profits as at 31 December 2005, subject to the agreement of the Inland Revenue Board.
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notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 december 2005 (cont’d)

19. Deferred Taxation
 

Group Company
2005

RM
2005

RM
2004

RM

Relating to subsidiaries acquired 3,064,923 - -

Recognised in the income statement (Note 5) 185,328 - -

At 31 December 3,250,251 - -

 Deferred Tax Liabilities of the Group:

Property, 
Plant and 

Equipment
RM

Subsidiaries acquired 3,064,923

Recognised in income statement (Note 5) 185,328

At 31 December 2005 3,250,251

20. Commitments

(a) Capital Commitments

Group and 
Company

2005
RM

Approved for

Construction of hospital building 39,989,880

 On 19 January 2006, TMC Life Sciences Berhad has awarded a contract worth RM39,989,880 to a third 
party for the design and construction of Tropicana Medical Centre.

(b) Non-cancellable Operating Lease Commitments

Group
2005

RM
Future minimum rentals payable:

Not later than 1 year 483,389

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 407,829

891,218

 Operating lease payment represents rentals payable by the Group for use of business premises. Lease is 
negotiated for an average term of three years and rentals are fixed for an average of three years. 
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notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 december 2005 (cont’d)

20. Commitments (cont’d)

(c) Non-cancellable Nursing Sponsorship Commitments

Group
2005

RM
Future minimum fees payable:

Not later than 1 year 106,240

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 37,760

144,000

 Nursing sponsorship payments represents fees payable by the Group for expenses carried forward granted 
to student nurses for training. The courses are for a duration of three years.

21. Significant Related Party Transactions

Group
2005

RM

Company
2005

RM
(a) Transactions with related parties:

Dividend income from subsidiaries - 1,962,000

Rental of premises from SS Lee Medical Services
Sdn Bhd, a company substantially owned by
a Director, Dr. Lee Soon Soo 295,200 -

295,200 1,962,000

 The Directors are of the opinion that all transactions above have been entered into in the normal course of 
business and have been established on terms and conditions that are not materially different from those 
obtainable in transactions with unrelated parties.

22. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

 The Group and the Company’s financial risk management policy seeks to ensure that adequate financial 
resources are available for the development of the Group and the Company’s businesses whilst managing its 
interest rate, foreign exchange, liquidity and credit risks. The Group and the Company operates within clearly 
defined guidelines that are approved by the Board and the Group and the Company’s policy is not to engage 
in speculative transactions.

(b) Interest Rate Risk

 The Group and the Company’s policy is to borrow principally using fixed rate debt.  The objectives for the fixed 
rate borrowings are to reduce the impact of an upward change in interest rates.

 The investment in financial assets which are short term in nature and they are not held for speculative 
purposes but have been mostly placed in fixed deposits.  The deposit placements at balance sheet date are 
short term and therefore its exposure to the effects of future changes in the prevailing level of interest is 
limited.
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22. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (cont’d)

(c) Liquidity Risk

 The Group and the Company actively manages its operating cash flows and the availability of funding so as 
to ensure that all repayment and funding needs are met.  As part of its overall prudent liquidity management, 
the Group and the Company maintains sufficient levels of cash or cash convertible investments to meet its 
working capital requirements. 

(d) Credit Risk

 Credit risk, or the risk of counterparties defaulting, is controlled by the application of credit approvals, limits 
and monitoring procedures.  Credit risks are minimised and monitored via strictly limiting the Group and the 
Company’s associations to business partners with high creditworthiness.

(e) Fair Values

 The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and trade and other payables approximate their fair 
values due to the relatively short term maturity of these financial instruments.

23. Other Significant Events

 During the financial year, the Company has increased its:-

(a) authorised ordinary share capital from RM100,000 to RM25,000,000 through the creation of 24,900,000 
ordinary shares of RM1 each; and following a share split, which then became 250,000,000 shares of 10 sen 
each.

(b) issued and paid up ordinary share capital from RM2 to RM16,833,000 by way of:

(i) the issuance of 11,732,055 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each through acquisition of the entire issued 
and paid up share capital of 2,180,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each of DWSC.

(ii) the issuance of 70,943 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each through acquisition of entire issued and paid 
up share capital of 1,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each of IVFT.

(iii) the issuance of 8,200,000 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each through special issues to eligible doctors 
and staffs under a Doctor and Staff Share Participation Scheme.

(iv) the issuance of 42,100,000 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each at an issue price of RM0.38 per ordinary 
shares to eligible directors and employees, the public and by way of private placement.

 The above events were undertaken in conjunction with the listing of the Company on the Mesdaq Market of Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad.

24. Comparatives

 No comparative figures have been presented for the Group as the current year is the first year where consolidated 
financial statements are presented.

notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 december 2005 (cont’d)
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list of properties

Title/Location
Description/
Existing Use

Registered 
Owner

Age of 
Building 
(Years)

Land / 
Built-Up 

Area
Tenure

Net Book 
Value as at 
31.12.2005 

(RM)

Original 
Cost (RM)

Plot of land on
Lot No. 11,
Jalan Teknologi,
Taman Sains Selangor 1,
Kota Damansara,
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Land under
development for
Tropicana Medical 
Centre

Damansara
Women’s
Specialist

Centre
Sdn Bhd

- 261,360 
sq ft

99-year 
leasehold 
(pending 
land titile)

19,600,000 9,631,683
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shareholding statistics
as at 14 april 2006

Authorised Capital : RM25,000,000.00

Issued And Fully Paid-up Capital : RM16,833,000.00

Class of Shares : Ordinary shares of 10 sen each fully paid

Voting Rights : One vote per share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of holding
No. of

Shareholders
% of

Shareholders
No. of

Shares
% of Issued

Share Capital

Less than 100 5 1.45 188 0.00

100 -  999 16 4.64 2,700 0.00

1,000 - 4,999 127 36.81 260,700 0.16

5,000 - 10,000 51 14.78 381,700 0.23

10,001-100,000 88 25.51 3,466,937 2.06

100,001 - 1,000,000 41 11.88 12,598,400 7.48

Above 1,000,000 17 4.93 151,619,375 90.07

Total 345 100.00 168,330,000 100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER

No. of Shares held

Name Direct % Indirect %

Dr. Colin Lee Soon Soo 82,958,009 49.28 - -

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS 

No. of Shares held

Name Direct % Indirect %

Dr. Colin Lee Soon Soo 82,958,009 49.28 - -

Amos Siew Boon Yeong 3,075,287 1.83 - -

Dr. Wong Pak Seng 1,000,000 0.59 - -

Dr. Surinder Singh A/L Ranbir Singh 900,000 0.53 - -

Lee Soon Swee 65,600 0.04 - -

Professor Dato’ Dr. Khalid Bin Abdul Kadir 20,000 0.01 - -

Dato’ Dr. Tan Kee Kwong 10,000 0.01 - -

Dr. Francis Lisa Muga 12,000 0.01 - -
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statement of shareholdings
twenty largest shareholders as at 14 april 2006

% of Issued
Share Capital

1 Dr. Colin Lee Soon Soo 82,958,009 49.28

2 Lee Soon Ai 8,399,663 4.99

3 Kho Poh Eng 8,283,500 4.92

4 Nagendran A/L C. Nadarajah 7,424,800 4.41

5 AMMB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
(Qualifier: Exempt An for AmTrustee Berhad)

6,412,000 3.81

6 Amanah Raya Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
(Qualifier: Public Smallcap Fund)

6,080,500 3.61

7 Foo San Kan 4,473,400 2.66

8 HLG Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
(Qualifier: PB Trustee Services Berhad for HLG Growth Fund)

4,120,300 2.45

9 Beh Eng Par 3,890,000 2.31

10 CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
(Qualifier: CIMB-Principal Asset Management Berhad
for Employees Provident Fund Board)

3,400,000 2.02

11 Amos Siew Boon Yeong 3,075,287 1.83

12 HDM Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
(Qualifier: Pledged securities account for Sivanathan A/L K Nataraja)

2,931,000 1.74

13 BHLB Trustee Berhad
(Qualifier: TA Small Cap Fund)

2,541,000 1.51

14 Koh Bee Yong 2,300,000 1.37

15 Lim Dee Dek @ Lim Tua Lek 2,293,016 1.36

16 Manulife Insurance (Malaysia) Berhad 1,800,000 1.07

17 AmBank (M) Berhad
(Qualifier: Pledged securities account for Soon Fook Kian)

1,236,900 0.73

18 Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.
(Qualifier: Mellon Bank, N.A. for Planetary Fund Public Limited Company)

1,000,000 0.59

19 CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
(Qualifier: CIMB-Principal Asset Management Berhad for
Bumiputra-Commerce Holdings Berhad)

1,000,000 0.59

20 A.A. Assets Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
(Qualifier: Pledged securities account for Tan Say Keng)

730,000 0.43

Total 154,349,375 91.68
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notice of the 3rd annual general meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the 3rd Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Greens II, Tropicana 
Golf and Country Resort, Jalan Kelab Tropicana, off Jalan Tropicana Utama, 47410 Petaling Jaya, Selangor on Thursday, 
15 June 2006 at 4.30 p.m. to transact the following businesses:

AGENDA

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2005 
and the Reports of Directors and Auditors thereon.

Ordinary Resolution 1

2. To approve the payment of a First and Final dividend of 1 sen per share less tax of 28% for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2005.

Ordinary Resolution 2

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees for the year ended 31 December 2005. Ordinary Resolution 3

4. To re-elect the following Directors who retire pursuant to Article 96 of the Company’s Articles 
of Association:-

(i) Dr. Yap Teck Long
(ii) Amos Siew Boon Yeong

Ordinary Resolution 4
Ordinary Resolution 5

5. To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as Auditors of the Company and authorise the Directors 
to determine their remuneration.

Ordinary Resolution 6

6. PROPOSED SHAREHOLDERS’ RATIFICATION FOR RECURRENT RELATED PARTY 
TRANSACTIONS OF A REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE

Ordinary Resolution 7

As Special Business to consider and if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolution, 
with or without modifications:

“THAT, subject to compliance with the Act, the Company’s Memorandum & Articles of 
Association, the Listing Requirements of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad for the 
MESDAQ Market, and the regulations, guidelines, guidance notes and/or such approvals as 
may be issued by the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and/or other regulatory authorities 
from time to time, all transactions entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries from 6 
October 2005 to 15 June 2006, the date of passing this Ordinary Resolution, as described 
in Section 2.4.1 of the Circular to Shareholders dated 24 May 2006 be and are hereby 
approved and ratified.

7. PROPOSED SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE FOR RECURRENT RELATED PARTY 
TRANSACTIONS OF A REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE

Ordinary Resolution 8

As Special Business to consider and if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolution, 
with or without modifications: -

“THAT, pursuant to Rule 6.8 of the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad 
for the Mesdaq Market, the Company and its subsidiaries be and are hereby authorised to 
enter into and give effect to the Recurrent Transactions with the Related Party as detailed in 
Section 2.4.2 of the Circular to Shareholders dated 24 May 2006 which are necessary for 
the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ day to day operations in the ordinary course of business 
on terms not more favourable to the said Related Party than those generally available to the 
public and not detrimental to minority shareholders of the Company.
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AND THAT such approval shall continue to be in force until:-

(a) the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company, at which time 
it will lapse, unless by a resolution passed at the AGM whereby the authority is renewed; 

(b)  the expiration of the period within which the next AGM of the Company is required to be 
held pursuant to Section 143(1) of the Companies Act, 1965 (“Act”) (but shall not extend 
to such extension as may be allowed pursuant to Section 143(2) of the Act); or

(c)  revoked or varied by a resolution passed by the shareholders in a general meeting; 

whichever is earlier.

THAT the Directors of the Company be and hereby authorised to complete and do all such 
acts and things as they may consider expedient or necessary to give effect to the Proposed 
Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Transactions.

AND THAT, the estimates given on the recurrent related party transactions specified in 
Section 2.4.2 of the Circular to Shareholders dated 24 May 2006 being provisional in nature, 
the Directors and/or any of them be and hereby authorised to agree to the actual amount 
or amounts thereof provided always that such amount or amounts comply with the review 
procedures set out in Section 2.5 of the Circular.” 

8. AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES Ordinary Resolution 9

As Special Business to consider and if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolution, 
with or without modifications: -

“THAT subject always to the Companies Act, 1965 (“Act”) and the approvals of the relevant 
governmental and/or regulatory authorities, the Directors be and are hereby empowered, 
pursuant to Section 132D of the Act, to issue and to allot shares in the Company from time 
to time at such price, upon such terms and conditions, for such purposes and to such person 
or persons whomsoever as the Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit provided 
that the aggregate number of shares issued of the Company pursuant to this Resolution does 
not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being and that the 
Directors be and are also empowered to obtain the approval from Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad for the listing of and quotation for the additional shares so issued and that such 
authority shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company.”

9. To transact any other business of which due notice shall have been received.

NOTICE OF DIVIDEND ENTITLEMENT AND PAYMENT

NOTICE IS ALSO HEREBY GIVEN THAT a First and Final dividend of 1 sen per share less tax of 28% for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2005, if approved by shareholders, will be paid on 14 July 2006 to shareholders whose names 
appear in the Record of Depositors of the Company at the close of business on 30 June 2006. 

A Depositor shall qualify for entitlement only in respect of:-

a.  shares transferred to the Depositor’s Securities Account before  4.00 p.m. on 30 June 2006 in respect of transfers; 
and 

b.  shares bought on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on a cum-entitlement basis according to the Rules of Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

SEOW FEI SAN (MAICSA 7009732)
WONG SIEW YEEN (MAICSA 7018749)
Secretaries

Petaling Jaya
24 May 2006

notice of the 3rd annual general meeting (cont’d)
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statement accompanying notice of the 3rd annual general meeting

1. Place, Date and Time of the Third Annual General Meeting 

 The 3rd Annual General Meeting of TMC Life Sciences Berhad will be held as follows:

 Place : Greens II, Tropicana Golf and Country Resort, Jalan Kelab Tropicana, off Jalan Tropicana Utama, 47410 
   Petaling Jaya, Selangor 
 Date : Thursday, 15 June 2006 
 Time : 4.30 p.m.

2. Directors Standing for Re-election at the 3rd Annual General Meeting
 
 The Directors standing for re-election pursuant to Article 96 of the Company’s Articles of Association: 

• Dr. Yap Teck Long
• Amos Siew Boon Yeong

 The profile of the Directors standing for re-election is set out on pages 14 and 15 of the Annual Report.

3. Details of Attendance of Directors at Board Meetings

 There was one (1) Board Meeting held during the financial year ended 31 December 2005 since the listing of the 
Company on the MESDAQ Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on 6 October 2005. All the Directors attended 
the Meeting.

Notes:

1.  A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy need not 
be a Member of the Company and a Member may appoint any persons to be his proxy. The provisions of Section 149(1)(b) of the 
Companies Act, 1965 shall not apply to the Company.

2.  A Member shall be entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting. Where a 
Member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the appointment shall be invalid unless the Member specifies the proportions of his 
holding to be represented by each proxy.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or his attorney duly authorised in writing, or if 
the appointer is a corporation, either under its Common Seal or under the hand of its officer or attorney duly authorised.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any), under which it is signed or a notarially 
certified copy thereof, must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 312, 3rd Floor, Block C, Kelana Square, 17 
Jalan SS7/26, 47301 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan not less than forty eight (48) hours before the time for holding the Annual 
General Meeting or any adjournment thereof.  

5. Explanatory Notes on Special Business:

 Ordinary Resolution 7

 Shareholders’ Ratification for Recurrent Related Party Transactions 

 The Ordinary Resolution 7 proposed under item 6, if passed, will ratify the Recurrent Transactions pursuant to Rule 6.8 of the Listing 
Requirements entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries. Further information on the Proposed Shareholders’ Ratification for 
Recurrent Transactions is set out in Section 2.4.1 of the Circular to Shareholders dated 24 May 2006, which is dispatched together 
with the Company’s Annual Report 2005. 

 Ordinary Resolution 8

 Proposed Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Transactions

 The Ordinary Resolution 8 proposed under item 7, if passed, will allow the Company and its subsidiaries to enter into Recurrent 
Related Party Transactions pursuant to Rule 6.8 of the Listing Requirements. Further information on the Proposed Shareholders’ 
Mandate for Recurrent Related Party Transactions is set out in Section 2.4.2 of the Circular to Shareholders dated 24 May 2006, 
which is dispatched together with the Company’s Annual Report 2005.

 
 Ordinary Resolution 9

 Authority to Issue Shares

 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 9, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company to issue and allot not more than 10% of 
the issued share capital of the Company subject to the approvals of all the relevant governmental and/or other /regulatory bodies 
and for such purposes as the Directors consider would be in the interest of the Company. 

 This authorisation will, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, expire at the next Annual General Meeting of 
the Company.

notice of the 3rd annual general meeting (cont’d)
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I/We (Please Use Block Capitals)
NRIC/Co. No.                of (Full Address)
          
being (a) member of TMC LIFE SCIENCES BERHAD hereby appoint (Full Name)
           
of (Full Address)            
or failing him/her (Full Name)          
of (Full Address)            
as my/our proxy to vote for me/us at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at Greens II, Tropicana Golf 
and Country Resort, Jalan Kelab Tropicana, off Jalan Tropicana Utama, 47410 Petaling Jaya, Selangor on Thursday, 15 
June 2006 at 4.30 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof. The proxy is to vote on the Ordinary Resolutions set out in the 
Notice of the Meeting as indicated with an “X” in the appropriate places. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the 
proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his discretion, as he will on any other matter arising at the Meeting.

FOR AGAINST
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 1
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 2
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 3
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 4
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 5
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 6
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 7
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 8
ORDINARY RESOLUTION 9

Dated this …......………day of….......………………….2006

Number of shares held

Signature

Notes:-

1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy 
need not be a Member of the Company and a Member may appoint any persons to be his proxy. The provisions of Section 
149(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 1965 shall not apply to the Company.

2. A Member shall be entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting. 
Where a Member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the appointment shall be invalid unless the Member specifies the 
proportions of his holding to be represented by each proxy.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or his attorney duly authorised in 
writing, or if the appointer is a corporation, either under its Common Seal or under the hand of its officer or attorney duly 
authorised.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any), under which it is signed or a 
notarially certified copy thereof, must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 312, 3rd Floor, Block C, 
Kelana Square, 17 Jalan SS7/26, 47301 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan not less than forty eight (48) hours before 
the time for holding the Annual General Meeting or any adjournment thereof.  



The Company Secretary

TMC Life Sciences Berhad
(624409-A)

312, 3rd Floor, Block C, Kelana Square,
17 Jalan SS7/26,

47301 Petaling Jaya,
Selangor.

Stamp

Please fold here to seal

Please fold here to seal


